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Secretarial Commission on Indian Trust Administration and Reform 

Executive Summary 
 
The seventh and final public meeting of the Secretarial Commission on Indian Trust Administration and 
Reform was held August 19, in Anchorage, AK. Commissioner Robert Anderson chaired the meeting and 
Chair Fawn Sharp participated telephonically.  Sarah Palmer of the U.S. Institute for Environmental 
Conflict Resolution (U.S. Institute or USIECR) facilitated the meeting. 
 
During the public meeting the Commission heard from Alaska tribal leaders and nationally recognized 
advocates for Alaska Native tribes about strategies to improve the trust relationship with special 
emphasis on the unique aspects of the trust relationship in Alaska. The Commission also received 
comment from members of the public who were present in Anchorage or participating online.  
 
Members of the Commission are: 

 
Chair, Fawn R. Sharp is the current President of the Quinault Indian Nation, the current President of 
the Affiliated Tribes of Northwest Indians, and a former Administrative Law Judge for the State of 
Washington and Governor of the Washington State Bar Association. 
 
Dr. Peterson Zah is a nationally recognized leader in Native American government and education 
issues.  Dr. Zah served as the last Chairman of the Navajo Tribal Council and the first elected 
President of the Navajo Nation. 
 
Stacy Leeds, citizen of the Cherokee Nation, is Dean and Professor of Law at the University of 
Arkansas School of Law and former Director of the Tribal Law and Government Center at the 
University of Kansas, School of Law. 
 
Tex G. Hall is the current Chairman of the Three Affiliated Tribes and past President of the National 
Congress of American Indians.  Mr. Hall currently serves as Chair of the Inter-Tribal Economic 
Alliance and is the Chairman of the Great Plains Tribal Chairmen’s Association.  
 
Robert Anderson is an enrolled member of Minnesota Chippewa Tribe (Boise Fort Band), currently 
Professor of Law and Director of the Native American Law Center at the University of Washington. 
Mr. Anderson worked as Associate Solicitor for Indian Affairs and as counselor to the Secretary of 
the Interior on Indian law and natural resources issues from 1995-2001. 

  
Sarah Harris, Chief of Staff to the Assistant Secretary for Indian Affairs, Mr. Kevin Washburn Department 
of the Interior, serves as the Designated Federal Officer (DFO) for the Commission. 
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Monday, August 19, 2013 
 
Commissioner Anderson called the meeting to order and welcomed attendees on behalf of Chair Fawn 
Sharp who was participating telephonically.  On behalf of the Commission, he thanked the Eklutna tribal 
government and Eklutna Corporation who hosted the Commission on Saturday.  The Commission 
appreciates being here in Dena’ina territory.  
 
Mike Williams of Akiak Native Community provided the opening blessing.  
 
Commissioner Anderson asked the audience to offer introductions (Appendix B) and reminded 
attendees that the Trust Commission welcomes comments at any time via the Commission website, 
http://www.doi.gov/cobell/commission/index.cfm.  He noted that approximately 25 people were 
participating in the meeting by phone and/or online. Commissioner Anderson reviewed the agenda and 
outlined the objectives for the meeting that included:  
 

- Attend to operational activities of the Commission 
- Gain insights and knowledge from invited speakers, and attendees about trust relationship, trust 

reform including other trust models, and other aspects of the trust that are unique to Alaska 
- Gain insights and perspectives from members of the public 

 

Opening Remarks 

Commissioner Anderson: Thank you again everybody for attending the Commission meeting. The 
purpose of the Commission in being here today goes back two years ago, DOI Secretary Salazar 
appointed us to look for ways to improve trust service delivery and trust management. We came here to 
Anchorage to hear about hunting, fishing gathering rights, the ways federal subsistence rights have 
played out and not worked very well, and of course any other matters that people are concerned about. 
We anticipate completing our work in November turning a report over to the Secretary. We are 
especially interested in including Alaska-specific concerns in our report. We heard some very specific 
concerns from Eklutna tribal council that were given to us on Saturday afternoon. 
 
I now want to introduce the Commission’s new Designated Federal Official (DFO) Sarah Harris. Sarah, 
thank you for coming out here. I am really happy that Sarah came up to learn about Alaska issues from 
the people who know the most all of you [to the audience]. 
 
DFO Harris: I look forward to hearing more from everyone here. We have a new secretary in DOI, 
Secretary Sally Jewell.  In June Deputy Secretary David Hayes left the Department. Despite these 
changes, I want to assure everyone that the Department is very supportive of the Trust Commission and 
taking the recommendations of the independent management consultant, Grant Thornton seriously and 
will be moving forward on these and the recommendations from the Commission. Having done my work 
in the lower 48, it was a very enlightening experience to visit the village of Eklutna. There is a lot of 
commonality between many Indian tribes in the lower 48, but the circumstances surrounding those are 
so very different. I look forward to hearing more from each of you.  
 

http://www.doi.gov/cobell/commission/index.cfm
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I also want to reiterate the Obama Administration’s commitment to Indian tribes.  The recent formation 
of the White House Council on Native American Affairs encourages all the federal agencies to work 
together to provide better service to Indian tribes. The Council’s work focuses on four areas: quality of 
life, encouraging self-determination, fulfilling treaty and trust responsibility, and self-governance. 
Secretary Jewell convened the first Council session on July 29. As we speak, agencies are providing 
recommendations to Secretary Jewell. Having to go to all the different agencies is hard, hopefully will be 
able to break down silos and improve service to tribes and Alaska Natives.  I’m also happy to share 
information about other things the administration is doing. 
 
Commissioner Hall: A few years ago I invited Mike Williams down to my area. Being a former NCAI 
President, I was up here in Fairbanks and Barrow. I flew over ANWR seeing the pipeline and doing some 
salmon fishing. The scenery and wildlife are just incredible. I’ve heard a lot of issues about upholding 
hunting and fishing rights, the sacredness of the whale and upholding the sacredness of what the 
creator has given you brings home why Alaska Natives fight the way they do for what they have. They 
are unique only to here, so you have to be here to get an understanding of your issues. I’m honored to 
be here, look forward to hearing your comments. 
 
Chair Sharp: It was truly an honor and privilege to visit Alaska Native lands and peoples. I too appreciate 
all those in attendance here today. The Commission has been working for nearly two years and we had a 
great site visit in Alaska. We’ve had a great opportunity to see the issues that affect Alaska Native 
people. We are eager to hear especially from you about the issues that are affecting you. Thank you for 
being here. 
 

Commission Operations, Reports, and Decision Making 

April and June Meeting Summaries  
Commissioner Hall made a motion to approve the minutes of the April 29, 2013 public meeting in 
Nashville TN.  Chair Sharp seconded the motion. The Commission approved the minutes from the April 
2013 meeting.  Commissioner Hall made a motion to approve the minutes of the June 7, 2013 public 
meeting in Oklahoma City, OK. Chair Sharp seconded the motion. The Commission approved the 
minutes from the June 2013 meeting.  

The final minutes from each meeting are posted on the Commission website: 
http://www.doi.gov/cobell/commission/index.cfm. 

Outreach Activities 
Chair Sharp: I didn’t have any activities since June. But I did have a session with the Affiliated Tribes of 
Northwest Indians (ATNI) in September. 
 
Commissioner Hall: I met with the tribes in the Great Plains last week in Rapid City. We talked about the 
Indian Trust Commission activities as well as the end of July Tribal-Interior Budget Council (TIBC). I’ll 
start with TIBC. They asked for an update on the agenda, so I reported on how the Commission is 
working to improve the trust.  At that time we had contracted with Grant Thornton, they are a looking at 
how the trust administration is currently administered, so I shared that with the TIBC. They talked about 
the various budget activities if the OST was to be folded into the BIA, what are the budget implications 
on that and how would it be administered and also some of our activities like cultural resource 
protections, go to other bureaus (BLM, Fish, forestry) what are the implications. 
 

http://www.doi.gov/cobell/commission/index.cfm
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Finally in Rapid City. Everyone one of the Great Plains tribes have treaties with the US government so 
they are really strong on protecting our treaty rights. In lieu of millions of acres of land, US would 
provide health and education, among other things.  The tribes are concerned that Bureau of Indian 
Education (BIE) is considered a non-trust item. The Great Plains tribes recommend combining all services 
to Indians as trust activities. I have provided those comments back to the Commission, and we’re in our 
last meeting.  We’re hoping to hear everyone’s comments and then hand everything off in November to 
Secretary Jewell.  
 
Commissioner Anderson: As for my activities, as usual I’ve heard a lot of discussion about Indian water 
rights matters in the lower 48. We, as a Commission, early on have had some internal discussion about 
how we’re not decision-makers, just advising, but we want to learn about matters so we can make 
specific recommendations on things that are of concern to us.  There’s a lot of discussion about how the 
government carries out its trust responsibilities for irrigation and farmers but also protection of habitat 
and in-stream flows. I’ve received several calls from various tribes about those matters.  The topic is a 
good bridge to some issues here in Alaska. As many of you know the Katie John decision came down in 
June. The court affirmed the rules that the Secretaries of Agriculture and Interior had set about how far 
the subsistence rules ought to extend. The 9th Circuit left the door open for leeway in the fisheries 
context at least. I’ve had a number of calls with the lawyers involved and that’s why we made that a 
particular focus of today’s conversation.  
 
On the lower 48 water rights issues and the Alaska water rights/ hunting and fishing rights issues that’s 
something that we must address in the final report. We’re eager to hear about other issues today as we 
go forward. 
 
If members of the audience have anything to send to the Commission by email, please do. We want to 
continue to receive information until we’re done.  The email is:  trustcommission@ios.doi.gov and the 
website is: http://www.interior.gov/cobell/commission/index.cfm 
 
 

Commission Review and Discussion of Preliminary Recommendations 

Draft Trust Responsibility Statement 
Commissioner Anderson: This is a work in progress. I’ll take credit or blame for it. We’ve gotten a lot of 
comments since June including great comments from lawyers who are online today. Attached to the 
draft Trust Responsibility Statement is Chapter Four of the American Indian Policy Review Commission 
from 1974. That commission was established by Congress and had about 20 members.  The commission 
produced a huge report encompassing two volumes and was backed up by another ten volumes 
including recommendations on trust reform. Many of those recommendations were carried out like: 
self-determination, contracts, self-governance compacting.  It [the report] was really important in Alaska 
and the idea that there should be ICWA and several other items. I put it in here to remind us that this 
has been recommended before, and that many of our recommendations are identical. Commissioner 
Hall was making points yesterday about explicitly covering some things in this draft statement. I want to 
ask him to list those again so I can include them in my next draft. We’ve gotten helpful comments from 
Navajo Nation along with many other comments online.  You won’t see those comments included here, 
but you will see them in the next draft. 
 

mailto:trustcommission@ios.doi.gov;%20regina.gilbert@bia.gov
http://www.interior.gov/cobell/commission/index.cfm
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Commissioner Hall: Thank you Commissioner Anderson.  The two points are treaty rights and trust 
responsibilities across other bureaus. On treaty rights, the Indian nations in the Great Plains all feel that 
these treaties are legal transactions with the United States. The trust responsibility comes from those 
treaties, especially when we’re in sequestration which makes it hard for programs to even be a program.  
Roads, education are all seen non-trust programs.  That’s why we want to make sure the treaties are put 
front and center because the treaties are the basis for the trust responsibility. The responsibility of the 
US government does not end because of sequestration. Programs are on the chopping block but those 
services must still be provided to tribes. President Obama is very adamant about defending the treaty 
rights, if you’re not going to provide services, give us our land back.  
 
Outside of BIA and IHS there are other agencies that have responsibility to tribes. How it’s carried out by 
all departments is important.  
 
Chair Sharp: On page five of the draft statement, first full paragraph where it says ‘recent Presidential 
administrations…’ I think we need to separate out those two concepts. One concept is ‘meaningful and 
timely consultation’. The other concept is ‘free prior and informed consent’ which means we arrive at 
things by agreement. Many tribal leaders agree that one of the problems with consultation is that it’s 
become a box to check. The federal agencies check the box and then proceed regardless of objection. If 
we can separate those two concepts, free prior and informed consent vs. consultation. Consultation is 
much deeper when it’s embedded in UNDRIP.  
 
Commissioner Anderson: I’m separating that out and will make a note to describe how consultation is 
administered. I’ll also include that article [about consultation] by Colette Routel. I’ll put it in, but Chair 
Sharp, I’ll count on you to review it and make changes as well. I really appreciate folks’ willingness to not 
only state concerns but also suggest wording to correct the problem.  We need to include some Alaska-
specific language because of amending ANCSA and ANILCA. And as I said before, those topics around 
water rights as well. 
 
Draft Conflict of Interest Protocols 
Commissioner Anderson: Bureaus have interests that tribes also have [and at times these interests are 
counter to one-another]. Commissioner Leeds has taken the lead on writing this section about protocols 
for the Department to manage potential conflicts of interest.  At the April Commission meeting Reid 
Chambers testified about a case in which DOI filed a separate brief in the case that IRS asserted Indian 
interests were taxable. They were not taxable and the Department (DOI) won on behalf of Indians. The 
US stopped that practice [of filing separate briefs], so we don’t have that protection anymore. The 
Commission is proposing a group of lawyers to protect Indian rights from the US government side (as a 
trustee) of course tribes would still have their own lawyers. Then when tribes have independent 
interests from US government we want tribes to have a fair shake in the situation.  
 
Public Comments About the Draft Documents 
Mike Harrison: I want to thank Roger Hudson for making me such an advocate for trust relationship. 

We’ve got a Native allotment and we’ve had trespassers on it. We fought it ourselves and to date 
they’ve stolen 11 acres out of the middle of our allotment. You’ll notice on the list of people who are 
supposed to get money from this trust we’re on it. The state of Alaska took this case to court. The 
ladies there said the state of Alaska was looking pretty bad and wanted to know why the federal 
government didn’t uphold its trust responsibility. They ended up dismissing the case because the 
court said we were filing sovereign immunity. We fought it again after I blocked some coal trucks. 
Then we lost our attorney and that’s when the US said we lost our standing in the courts. It’s the 
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lack of someone helping us when we knew they were supposed to. We had someone putting a road 
over our allotment. It’s worth so much, we owe you damages but we never got compensated. They 
said ask us again, ask us again later. Then we did and they said too much time’s passed, sorry. 
There’s no follow-through with this trust for the indigenous people who have the Native allotments. 
And it started in 1980, so it’s been a long time that I’ve been trying to get this to happen.  
 
I also wanted to let people know a little history of Alaska that most people don’t know. In 1824 or 
so, Russia tried to claim sovereignty over Alaska.  The US and Great Britain protested so Russia could 
not proclaim sovereignty. The US and Great Britain said Russia could not claim it, because all the 
[Russian] forts in mainland Alaska had been burned to the ground by Native people. They had two 
forts one at Kodiak and one at Sitka.  If you read the treaty, it says the US is only selling to Russia this 
monopoly on trade with the indigenous people. They assumed our land and rights, but they 
purchased trade rights only. Assumed means taken without law. In the 1930s the US sent colonists 
to the Matanuska Valley. I went to school there, part of the time. I learned that they were supposed 
to decolonize Alaska after World War II.  
 
The UN Charter says they were supposed to bring us up to our political, social and many other 
aspirations. What happened was the US people (who became the state of Alaska). There were 
supposed to be other things in that vote, like free-association, independence. I went to a 
decolonization meeting once in Antigua, and in Gibraltar, they said only aboriginal people are 
supposed to be voting on decolonization. Yet in Alaska you had to speak and write English. You also 
have to have five white people sign that you’re competent. When the vote came around who voted? 
The military was paid $5 extra if they could prove that they’d voted. And the miners, prospectors 
voted. None of this treaty has ever been upheld.  
 
So where are we now? We need to be back on the decolonization list, so we can have the rights and 
responsibilities that we’re supposed to have and get back our resources that we’re supposed to 
have. And it’s polluting mother earth. Now we’re supposed to have black carbon (coal, wood 
smoke). In-stream flows for salmon, we spend over $1 million to restore the stream, now coal 
companies want to take that stream and put it in a pipe so they can avoid EPA and USACE 
regulations.  
 
After this recent lawsuit where we were supposed to put more land into trust so that he (indicating 
person nearby) could protect it. We still don’t seem to be getting any movement out of the federal 
government. We’re not getting anything out of the US to protect our sacred rights. I have more to 
say, but I’ll stop at that.  

 
Commissioner Anderson: Allotment issues have come up in every place we’ve been. 
Commissioner Hall: Prior consent is also a standing issue. 
 
Paul Mayo: Alaska is not part of the Indian Land Consolidation Act and there’s $1.9 million in the 
settlement act and we’re not getting any of that. In Alaska we’d like to see at least $10 million to help 
hire attorneys. I’m happy to provide written comments on that. We’ve had the same trespass issue, 
we’re asking for reimbursement and so on, and I can articulate that in writing. 
Commissioner Anderson: Please do. 
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Panel Session: Trust Land and Trust Responsibility in Alaska  

Commissioner Anderson opened the panel session. Panelists were asked to share their perspectives 
about the recent US District Court decision regarding Akiachak Native Community, et al. v. Salazar and 
its implications for taking land into trust in Alaska and panelist responses to the following questions: 

• Do you have any recommendations to improve or streamline delivery of services to trust 
beneficiaries?   

• What are your top three recommendations that you think would improve or strengthen trust 
management and/or administration for the Commission to consider?  

• Do you have any suggestion of other trust administration models the ITC should examine as it 
looks towards improving the DOI trust administration and management?  

• Do you have any recommendations specific to Alaska regarding the federal trust relationship 
with Alaska Native tribes, trust lands, or subsistence hunting and fishing rights?  
  

Mike Williams: I am pleased stand all my relations from Akiachak. Give them a hand. I won’t take all my 
time, but welcome to Alaska. It is a great honor to speak to the Commission on issues of trust in Alaska. I 
will get down to the questions about trust in Alaska and will try to answer them as best I can. I applaud 
the judge’s decision for the Akiachak people against Salazar.  Mr. Williams then read from his statement 
see Appendix D.   
 
Commissioner Anderson: Great, thank you very much Mike. 
 
Commissioner Hall: I have a question. Mike, you mentioned that tribes don’t have the authority to take 
lands into trust. And you recommended 25CFR151 be amended? Have the tribes pursued that in terms 
of requesting from the DOI? 
 
Mr. Williams: Yes, our tribe and several others have been pursuing this but because of ANCSA. The state 
felt they could not put lands into trust in Alaska. Our tribe some time ago put in a resolution to NCAI in 
light of not allowing Alaska tribes to put lands into trust. And our tribe put in a resolution in Sacramento 
[to NCAI] and requested that Alaska be included to be afforded putting lands into trust if they so desire. 
 
Commissioner Hall: A follow-up question. What is the Alaska Congressional delegation’s position? 
 
Mr. Williams: Yes, we have mentioned this issue to them. Congressman Young hasn’t been quite 
supportive. With the other Senators, we have not really pursued that 100% because of the nature of the 
position of the state of Alaska and their adamant refusal to allow putting lands into trust in Alaska. 
 
Commissioner Hall:  You mentioned in your comments the jurisdiction problems and also a tribe that’s 
doing quite well. 
 
Mr. Williams: Yes, Chilkoot put 72 acres into trust in their village it would make a big difference in 
providing services in their land. Though we don’t have trust at Akiak, we do our best to provide services 
locally and we’ve had some resistance in the past by our regional non-projects to provide services by 
BIA. In the past because the Akiak community passed a resolution to service our schools until Senator 
Stevens took the money out of Alaska schools. We were going to form our own school district and we 
were successful doing that. We withdrew from our regional non-profit and we were successful in 
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providing all of these services out of Akiak and it has improved quality of life in the village with providing 
those adequate services. With training those young people and furthering their education and training 
to meet all these requirements. It has really benefited the condition of our homes, roads, children’s 
issues. Thanks to some of those important court cases that were won concerning children it has greatly 
improved but we have a long way to go. There’s no Indian land here and our tribes are not afforded the 
same protections and services that our women and children deserve under the Violence Against Women 
Act. Those things have adversely affected us. We’re dealing with issues of fishing rights and hunting 
rights and those continue to hamper our lives and the condition of communities.  
 
We need to deal with those issues because, even in 1980 with passage of ANILCA, it hasn’t really made 
that difference and we’re struggling to survive out there. Our suicide rate is the highest in the nation in 
Alaska. Our young people are unfortunately killing themselves and we have to deal with hopelessness 
and violence in the community. We’re trying to deal with alcohol and other bad things but we always 
struggle with the issue of jurisdiction.  
 
Sometimes our hands are tied, but we want to deal with things at the local level. What we need to do it 
with those small communities. We have to protect our lands, children, women, hunting and fishing 
rights. Because of cost of living, energy, transportation, we live with that every day. I don’t know how a 
lot of our communities are surviving. We need to turn that around so our children can be secure into the 
future. That’s what all our great leaders have done in this country. We need to continue to have our 
lands to be together and to have our languages and cultures be intact. In spending 40 years with the 
elders and explaining these policies coming down. It’s adversely affected life in the village. Good 
intentions, but we need to look at what is working, what’s not, and strengthen all of it. Native 
corporations, some of our brothers and sisters have created these corporations. We still can achieve 
that to strengthen our holdings. We know that corporations cannot become tribes. And my final 
recommendation is that we respect the federal recognition list of 221 federally recognized tribes and 
that the federal government has the obligation to respect that. I think we can make these policy changes 
to invest in the future. 
 
Heather Kendall-Miller, Native American Rights Fund   
Ms. Kendall-Miller: Thank you for coming out on this dreary rainy day. I’m an attorney in the Native 
American Rights Fund. I’ve litigated in a number of tribes that have brought suit against the government, 
challenging not bringing land into trust. Welcome to Alaska, home to 229 federally recognized tribes.  
Ms. Kendall-Miller then read from her statement, see Appendix D.  
  
Commissioner Anderson: Thank you.  I have some questions, but I’m going to hold them until after Julie 
speaks. 
  
Julie Kitka, President of Alaska Federation of Natives 
Ms. Kitka: I am grateful for opportunity to make comments.  We share similar ideas (Mike Williams and 

Heather Kendall-Miller).  Here is one particular example.  During the five years that we worked on 
the “1991 Amendments”1 to ANSCA. Under the legislation, any Native corporation could buy a 
shareholder vote, transfer any or all of its land and other assets to a "Qualified Transferee Entity," 
(QTE). The stock was to be called in and it would have devastated Native people and resulted in the 
loss of all our land. For that five-year period of time in which we were looking at protecting our 

                                                           
1 See Alaska Federation of Natives Newsletter, Volume VI, Number Two, April 20, 1987 
http://www.alaskool.org/projects/ancsa/articles/afn_newsletters/afn_newsletter.htm 

http://www.alaskool.org/projects/ancsa/articles/afn_newsletters/afn_newsletter.htm
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stock and lands, we allowed for elders to transfer land to their Native corporation.  I bring that to 
your attention because it was between 1983 and 1988 when it was signed into law. During that time 
we had many challenges. Specifically on the transfer of land – we would have been helped greatly by 
the Secretary of the Interior. There was money appropriated to do that, but the study was done only 
to a point.  That’s how politicized DOI was, that they killed a report that Congress paid for, rather 
than put out the report that had specific recommendations in it.  
 
What’s particularly important is the absolute failure of the 13th corporation. We’ve sent a letter to 
the Secretary and Assistant Secretary of the Interior. All we want is an election for the board of 
directors so they can become active again. The 13th corporation is in limbo now and it has 5,000 
shareholders involved. The documents are in some storage room. But we’re talking about complete 
disenfranchisement of 5,000 Native people. It was alerted in the aborted study but now we need an 
election to get started on the project. 
 
I also share with Heather’s comments that the [Commission] report should be action-oriented rather 
than a study for study’s sake. This comes right from the local folks all the way up to the Secretary. 
We need a bias toward action rather than a bias for studying. As far as specific things we put all our 
examples and legal stuff in our written comments (Appendix D). I also urge the Commission to 
support a range of actions that the Secretary can take right now without any cost or additional study 
to make our lives better in terms of hunting and fishing. We’ve put together hundreds of hours of 
recommendations that weren’t adopted.  The Secretary is not prohibited by law, it’s not prohibited 
by statute, so just do it. 
 
That said we have many changes we’d like to see that would require regulatory action. So we’re 
going forward in our testimony for two demonstration projects. One is to establish co-management 
arrangements. There will be a hearing in early September, please encourage the Secretary to move 
forward. The second project is administrative actions. A third component is things that require 
changes in federal statutes.  Basically, it’s moving toward the Native priority.  
 
An item I bring to your attention that’s not in the written testimony is urging the Department to get 
involved with DOJ to draft legislation that was introduced by Senators Begich and Murkowski to 
clarify the federal role. Specifically, that the DOI work on the side of Native people, public safety, 
women and children. The only way the DOI can be helpful is if they are active now while things are 
going on. I urge that you have an expedited section to prevent missed opportunities. 
 
Another item is allocation and federal budget for DOI. Notable presentations have been put 
together on this topic by Tlingit President Thomas. It called into question that decision-making 
process that, again when funding is applied, you’re entrenching these arguments of the bureaus 
against one another.   
 
Sequester. If the resources going to our tribes are reduced, there are an awful lot of programs with 
good track records that will dissolve over the next 10 years. We need Native American programs 
held harmless from the sequester. If we wait years the damage will have already been done.  
 
Last item: voting rights protection and the Supreme Court decision. Changes to voting procedures. 
This is before the Supreme Court there’s no decision on that. You’ll see disenfranchisement over 
time. This [issue] rises to the Secretarial level and she needs to say we’re not going to put up with 
this. Put forward an agenda and then move forward on it.  
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Commissioner Anderson: Thank you Julie, Heather, and Mike.  One question about the Akiachak case, 
could the Department take land in trust as it is, or would they have to rule them as unlawful anyway?  
 
Heather: They would have to do some sort of rule-making. We have decisions that have languished. 
We’ve put an application together this summer and moved forward with the process and discovered 
that Alaska is without a clue in terms of how to put forward an application.  DOI is ill-equipped. They 
don’t know how to put an application forward. We’re concerned they will continue to exercise the 
Secretary’s discretion and continue to do nothing.  
 
Commissioner Anderson: Julie, I remember a lot of bad memories with that QTE discussion. Has AFN had 
any changes to allow corporations to transfer land to tribes without shareholder suits? 
 
Julie: That hasn’t come up for some time. People mostly focused on legislation. One big concern people 
have is subsurface rights. The village corporations do not want to be in a situation of owning surface but 
not subsurface rights. We need subsurface owners involved early to avoid a lot of litigation. Historic 
note on subsurface: if you look at land settlements since 1971 no subsurface rights went to Native 
peoples. It was all reserved to US/ Canada government. Eastern Canada tribes do not have ownership of 
subsurface rights. As you go forward on taking land into trust be cautious of split ownership estates. 
 
Heather: Although litigation was brought on behalf of trines that own land in fee, we would expect that 
tribes with ANCSA land in fee would be allowed to participate. That’s why it makes sense to have a 
curative rule-making. Split-estate is not uncommon in lower 48 either. I did some research lately and 
most of fee-to-trust applications concern parcels where estate is split. We can’t work this out under the 
current system. We need DOI to step up and allow Native corporations, the state of Alaska, and the 
tribes to give their views on what would be a fair system for split ownership. Where do our legislators 
stand on this? Begich speaks in favor of tribes. Murkowski speaks in favor of Alaska. DOI should actually 
take responsibility and put a process in place so we don’t have a situation where we’re running to 
senators asking them to fix it for us. 
 
Commissioner Hall: Julie can you shed light on the 5,000 people? 
 
Julie: It’s a group of people who were primarily out of state for medical reasons, employment, or 
whatever else, at the time ANSCA was passed. There was an option in the land claims if people were out 
of state, they could be the 13th region. There were 4,500 Alaska Natives who signed up. They didn’t get 
land just money under the ANCSA. Today they have no money, not enough to call an election to create a 
board of directors to speak on behalf of these shareholders. They are put aside for all intents and 
purposes. They need DOI to help them form a legally authorized board to move them forward on 
congressional remedy. 
 
Commissioner Hall: Any final thoughts on strengthening legal remedy? 
 
Heather: AFN has tried to communicate to the Secretary things that can be done and don’t need money, 
including trust fulfillment to tribal members. That’s all been spelled out clearly over the course of the 
past few years. We’d like the DOI to take those recommendations seriously. 
 
Commissioner Anderson: We’ve got those specific recommendations that went to the DOI as part of 
ANILCA. This will be very helpful to the Commission.  
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Chair Sharp: Mike, thank you for presenting to the Commission today. My question is around 
consolidation and streamlining of services. Last year the DOI undertook a $12 million survey enterprise, 
and I’m interested in hearing the recommendations that our Alaska delegation might have made last 
year in terms of streamlining. Will it be detrimental? If so, where? I’m open to having some of those 
recommendations that were put forward last year be added to our documentation as well. 
Our challenge as a Commission is to find things that look good on paper but might have unintended 
consequences.  
 
Mike Williams: I’m a little hard of hearing, but I really appreciate your tuning in and wish you were here 
for all of these discussions. What’s interesting in Alaska is 229 recognized tribes should be afforded to 
continue this conversation along with the DOI. Many of the communities cannot afford to send their 
representatives and consultation sessions. When there are consultations in health care and other issues 
affecting us. The DOI Secretary has to honor a lot of those small or needy tribes that don’t have the 
capacity, that they are afforded the opportunity to address their concerns to the Secretary. There are so 
many voices out there that are not being heard. We need to afford that conversation, for our cousins in 
the lower 48 and the federal government. I appreciate this opportunity for further conversation down 
the road and this report will hopefully improve the quality of life here in Alaska.  
 
Commissioner Anderson: There is an online question about the buyback of fractionated parts of 
allotments. The question: Have the tribes been selected for the pilot? 
 
DFO Harris: Yes, the Department has been working on that and we’re expecting to reach out to tribes 
directly.  
 
Julie: You’re probably all aware of the Obama Council on Native Affairs. I’d recommend this [trust] 
commission brief them as soon as possible, it’s critical to brief them right away.  
 
DFO Harris: The Trust Commission will present their report to the new White House Council for Native 
Affairs.  There will be in dialogue to see how they can interact on those intersections of rights and 
responsibilities. We will be briefing them [the council]. 
 
Commissioner Anderson: That is right and when our report comes out it will be a public document. 
People will be able to urge the Secretary to take action on our report if they agree with our findings and 
recommendations. Thanks to each of our panel speakers.  
 
 
Public Comment 

Gary Harrison:  When you read the UN charter, it says it’s a sacred trust. I urge you to look it up. When 
the Land Claims Act was enacted, it was genocide. It was intended to destroy the land of peoples in 
whole or in part. And that is another piece of genocide as well. I’ve heard that once people hear these 
things and know and understand them, they have to do something about it, or they are complicit in 
genocide. Do you have any answers about that? 
Commissioner Anderson: The problems with ANCSA are well-documented particularly people born after 
1971. Tied up with trust lands issues and we’ll certainly include that in our report.  
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Rick Harrison: One barrier I haven’t heard mentioned is enrollment. I’ve had two different cases come to 
me. One is someone who’s not from the region. For enrollment outside of the region it should be online 
so that you don’t have to go to your region to enroll.  The second case, like many tribes across the 
country, is about children being adopted out of their homes. The children end up not knowing where 
they came from. They were adopted and/or their mother was as well and they cannot get a BIA card 
despite being Alaska Native. There needs to be some other model for it.  
See Appendix E for a written comment submitted by Mr. Rick Harrison. 
 
Question from Audience: What pilot program is starting in two weeks? 
DFO Harris: That’s the buyback program that we’re piloting in two weeks in the lower 48 only. 
 
Commissioner Anderson: Someone handed over a question about probate and wanted to remain 
anonymous. “Alaska doesn’t have a probate code. Who would the tribes discuss this issue with?” Mike 
Smith can you help us address that? 
Mike Smith: Yes. 
 
Sarah Obed: I work with Robin Renfrew. I’ll share some things she shared with me. 
She intended to testify on her own behalf. She was trying to purchase an allotment and the process for 
that piece was long and arduous, not very clear. She wanted to raise that issue. In another sale she was 
assisting with the village corporation wanted to purchase the allotment and they had all settled it, but 
the BIA said the negotiated price wasn’t the true value of the land and the entire sale was stopped. 
She’s very concerned about fractionalization of the allotments. I’ll make sure she emails her statement.  
 
Meeting Wrap-Up 
Commissioner Anderson: Thank you everyone for attending in-person and on-line and for the allottees 
sharing their thoughts.  Thank you to the staff from the Udall foundation. They’ve been fantastic 
recording everything. They’ve compiled the record for us. There’s no way we could have done it without 
them. I also want to thank the DOI staff in BIA, OST, AS-IA from Albuquerque, Washington DC. They’ve 
been great telling us things to make sure we had the information we needed, whether we wanted to 
hear it or not. The whole commission appreciates the input and information. Grant Thornton, the 
management consultant has been great. We’ll make great use of all this assistance that we’ve had. 
Hopefully to produce something that will be useful to the Secretary and Alaska Native tribes.  
 
Thank you and we’re adjourned.  
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Appendix A. List of Acronyms 

 
ANILCA  Alaska National Interest Lands Conservation Act 
ANSCA  Alaska Native Settlement Claims Act 
ANWR  Alaska National Wildlife Refuge 
ArcGIS  GIS Mapping Software 
ASIA  Assistant Secretary for Indian Affairs (DOI) 
ATNI  Affiliated Tribes of Northwest Indians 
BIA  Bureau of Indian Affairs 
BOR  Bureau of Reclamation 
CADR  Office of Collaborative Action and Dispute Resolution (DOI) 
COLT  Coalition of Large Land Based Tribes 
CTMP  Comprehensive Trust Management Plan 
DFO  Designated Federal Officer 
DOI  Department of the Interior 
DOJ  Department of Justice 
EOP  Explanation of Payment 
ESRI  Technology Company Developing GIS Tools 
FACA  Federal Advisory Committee Act 
FOIA  Freedom of Information Act 
FTM  Fiduciary Trust Model 
GIS  Geographic Information System 
GPTCA  Great Plains Tribal Chairman’s Association 
HLIP  High-level Implementation Plan 
IA  Indian Affairs (DOI) 
IFMAT  Indian Forest Management Assessment Team 
IIM  Individual Indian Money 
ILWG  Indian Land Working Group 
ITMA  Intertribal Monitoring Association on Indian Trust Funds 
ITT  Information Technology Trust 
LCC  Landscape Conservation Cooperative 
LTRO  Land Titles and Records Office 
MOU  Memorandum of Understanding 
NARF  Native American Rights Fund 
NCAI  National Congress of American Indians 
NCLB  No Child Left Behind 
NEPA  National Environmental Policy Act 
NIFRMA National Indian Forest Resource Management Act 
NMFS  National Marine Fisheries Service 
NRCS  Natural Resources Conservation Service 
NRDAR  Natural Resource Damage and Assessment Restoration 
OEA  Office of External Affairs (OST)   
OHTA  Office of Historical Trust Accounting  
OITT  Office of Indian Trust Transition 
OMB  Office of Management and Budget 
ONRR  Office of Natural Resources Revenue 
OST  Office of the Special Trustee for American Indians 
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OTRA  Office of Trust Review and Audit 
PSA  Public Service Announcement 
QTE  Qualified Transferee Entity 
RACA  Office of Regulatory Affairs and Collaborative Action (IA) 
SOL  Office of the Solicitor 
TAAMS  Trust Asset Accounting Management System 
TEK  Traditional Ecological Knowledge 
TFAS  Trust Fund Accounting System 
TIBC  Tribal/Interior Budget Council 
USET  United South and Eastern Tribes Incorporated 
USIECR  U.S. Institute for Environmental Conflict Resolution 
USGS  U.S. Geological Survey 
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Appendix B. Trust Commission Meeting Attendees 

Name Affiliation Monday, August 19, 2013 

Commission   
Fawn Sharp Chair Telephonically 
Robert Anderson Commissioner X 
Tex Hall Commissioner X 
Sarah Harris DFO X 

Commission Support Staff   
Nedra Darling (on-line) DOI BIA X 
Mark Davis OST X 
Joshua Edelstein SOL X 
Patricia Gerard (on-line) OST X 
Genevieve Giaccardo OST X 
Regina Gilbert BIA X 
Sarah Palmer USIECR Facilitator X 
Paula Randler USIECR Facilitator X 
Bryan Rice BIA X 
Helen Riggs OST X 
Tiffany Taylor OST X 

Public Attendees In-Person 
  

Tammy Buffone OST X 
Melvin E. Burch OST X 
Jody Cummings Office of the Solicitor X 
Carol Daniel AFN X 
Amy Sparck Dobmeier North Star Group X 

Gina R. Douville Association of Village 
Council Presidents X 

Desiree Duncan CCTHITA - NLR Realty X 
Ida Ekamrak ANC X 

Mildred Evan Akiachak Native 
Community X 

Amber Garib Grant Thornton X 
Elizabeth Gobeski Office of the Solicitor, DOI X 
Eileen Grant Tanana Chiefs Conference X 
Tracy Greene Grant Thornton X 

Chief Gary Harrison Chickaloon Village 
Traditional  Council X 

Rick Harrison Chickaloon Village 
Traditional  Council X 

Marc Hebert Grant Thornton X 
Tom Hoseth Bristol Bay Native Services X 
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Roger L. Hudson Office of the Solicitor, DOI X 

Melanie Kasayulie Akiachak Native 
Community X 

Julie Kitka Alaska Federation of 
Natives X 

Eric Larsen Land Management Services X 
Thomas Leonard Celista Corporation X 
Brenda Lintinger Tunica-Biloxi Tribe of LA X 
Paul Mayo Tanana Chiefs Conference X 

Heather Kendall Miller Native American Rights 
Fund X 

Glenda Miller OST X 
Sarah E. Obed Doyon, Limited X 

H. F. Katuk Pebley Inupiat Community of the 
Arctic Slope X 

Mike Smith BIA X 
Mike Williams NCAI - Alaska Region X 
Roberta Wolfe CCTHITA - NLR Realty X 

Kate Wolgemuth Office of the Governor - 
Alaska X 

Public Attendees On-line 
  

Adam Bailey Hobbs Straus X 
Violet Bowling OST X 

Tamara Dietrich Alaska Native Tribal Health 
Consortium X 

Teresa Gaudette Kake First Nations X 
Jeremy Geffre BIA X 
Brenda Golden  X 
Cody Halterman BIA X 
Chad Hutchinson Alaska Legislature X 
Charlotte Hicks Upper Mohawk Inc X 
Bill Holway Muckelshoot Tribes X 
Maribeth McCarthy Mastercard X 
Ginger Morris OST X 
Bonita Nipper BIA X 
Dan Rey-Bear Nordhaus Law X 
Melodie Rothwell HHS X 
Michele Saranovich Accenture X 
Jacquelin Schafer State of AK X 
Christina Tippin Tikigaq X 
William White Deloitte X 
Ted Wright Sitka Tribes X 
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Appendix C. List of Documents Distributed and/or Presented at Commission Meeting 
• Agenda 
• Draft Trust Responsibility Statement 
• Draft Conflict of Interest Protocols 
• Land into trust - Mike Williams 
• H. Kendall-Miller 8192013_to ITC 
• Trust Statement of Julie Kitka 81913 
• AFN Comments on Fulfilling the Federal Trust Responsibility 
• 010709 AFN Comments to the Secretarial Review  
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Appendix D.  Panel Session: Trust Land and Trust Responsibility in Alaska  

Speaker 1. Mike Williams 

Speaker 2. Heather Kendall-Miller 

Speaker 3. Julie Kitka 
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Mike Williams 
Akiak Native Community 

“Remarks to the Indian Trust Commission” 
Sheraton Hotel 

Anchorage, Alaska 
 

August 19, 2013 
 

Good morning to all of you, Honorable Chair Fawn Sharp and the Commission.  It is a huge honor to 
speak to you today on the issues of trust in Alaska, I thank you so much for the opportunity.  I will get 
down to the questions on Trust Reform and Models that were posed and will try to answer them the 
best I can.   

First of all, I applaud the Judge’s decision on the Akiachak Native Community vs. Salazar which is long 
overdue in Alaska.  It is not right to deny putting lands into trust in Alaska because of the passage of the 
Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act of 1971.  Prohibiting putting lands into trust has caused irreparable 
harm to all of our Tribes, being with no land and no Indian Country to have jurisdiction to protect our 
lands, women, children and waters.  The lands that are put are in fee simple title and lands in Alaska are 
vulnerable for loss in the future.  That law extinguished the aboriginal title we held on to our ancestral 
lands and gave them to the State Chartered for profit corporations of its own making.  It left our Tribes 
and Children landless and in utter poverty and poured out inheritance into corporations it had made.  It 
has divided our People and we are witnesses to that, but we do not blame our relatives who manage 
these corporations, they are implementing what was planned for them, by the framers of ANCSA.   

Getting back to the lands into trust, in Haines, Alaska, the Chilkoot Native Association has applied for 72 
acres of land that they were denied the petition stating that ANCSA prohibited putting lands into trust 
for Alaskan Tribes. 

Our President of the United States, Barack Obama made a statement at his summit with the Tribal 
Nations in November, 2010, which I attended, his desire to allow “all Federally Recognized Tribes to put 
lands into Trust which will protect it for future generations with the establishment of “Indian Country” in 
our traditional lands is necessary.  We have been unable to put them until now.  I would recommend 
that the Department of the Interior quickly implement in reviewing and approving the applications that 
the Federally Recognized Tribes had made, to protect our land holdings for future generations of our 
Tribes with no impacts on pending applications for the Federally Recognized Tribes.   I have three 
recommendations for land acquisitions for land transfer into trust: 

1) Amend 25 Code of Federal Regulations part 151, land acquisitions, to include Alaska; 
2) Provide Funding for boundary surveys for Tribes that acquire Lands into Trust; 
3) Provide direct Consultations with Tribal Governments on issues related to Land Acquisitions of 

Trust Lands. 

I am recommending that each of the 229 Federally Recognized Tribes provide ALL the needed delivery of 
services to Trust Beneficiaries at the Tribal level.  Each Tribe knows its communities and its needs.  Each 
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Tribe must be afforded adequate funding to implement these services at the local level, many 
communities have implemented the Indian Self Determination and Education Assistance Act of 1975 and 
have greatly improved the quality of services.  Capacity building for each Tribe must be on going into the 
future.  It still is up the each Tribe to consider forming coalitions or consortium of Tribes to provide 
services.  But to continue to honor their Sovereign Status.  The three recommendations for the 
Commission to consider to improve would be: 

1) Provide adequate technical support for each Tribe to make sure they are in compliance; 
2) Provide adequate contract support costs for each Tribe; 
3) To provide ongoing meaningful consultation with each of the 229 Federally Recognized Tribes 

There are many other models to consider from our sister Tribes in the south 48, but in Alaska, we need 
to see each successful Tribe, such as Fort Yukon and Akiak Native Community who are providing great 
services to its members/citizens.  Some of the examples to look at other tribally managed models would 
be Eskimo Whaling Commission, Nanook Commission, Migratory Bird Treaty, Marine Mammal 
Protection, etc.  Some of these models have been successfully managed that benefited the tribes in 
Alaska. 

I have several recommendations for Alaska regarding trust relationship with Alaska Native Tribes, Trust 
Lands, and Hunting and Fishing Rights.  My recommendations on these issues, we need Alaska Native 
Restoration Act by the administration and Congress to allow: 

1) That the Federal Government honor its Trust Obligations solely with the 229 Federally 
Recognized Tribes of Alaska; 

2) Transferring ownership and control of village and regional corporation lands back to the 
Federally Recognized Tribes and by recognizing these lands as “Indian Country” under the 
jurisdiction of the Tribal Governments; 

3) Restoring the Aboriginal Hunting and Fishing Rights of Alaska Natives that Section 4(b) of Alaska 
Native Claims Settlement Act had summarily “extinguished” and affirming the right of Alaska’s 
Indigenous People to hunt, fish and gather in traditional and accustomed places in perpetuity, 
and  

4) Mandating the enrollment of all Alaska Natives and Alaska Native Children born before, on, or 
after December 18, 1971 into ANCSA regional and village corporations regardless of blood 
quantum, eligibility to be determined by a Tribal Government. 

I would like to thank you very much for the opportunity to speak and recommend of our hopes and 
dreams to have the quality of life that our ancestors had and worked hard from time long ago. 

Thank you for the consideration of my recommendations on the trust issues. 

Mike Williams   
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August 19, 2013 

 
Testimony Before the Secretarial Commission on 

Indian Trust Administration and Reform 
by Heather Kendall-Miller 

 
Report on Akiachak Native Community v. Salazar, No. 06-969 (RC) (D.C. March 31, 2013). 
 
Esteemed Commission Members: 
 
Welcome to Alaska, the home to 229 federally recognized Tribes. Thank you for your time 
today and the opportunity to speak with you about trust lands in Alaska. I have been asked to present 
my perspectives about the recent U.S. District Court decision regarding Akiachak Native Community 
v. Salazar and its implications for taking land into trust in Alaska. 
 
Background: 
 
Let me begin by drawing from the leading Indian law treatise, the Cohen Handbook of Federal Indian 
Law, a statement that says that "understanding history is crucial to understanding doctrinal 
developments in the field of Indian law." So, here too, in Alaska. 
 
The Alaska experience shows that Federal officials, often draw from their experience of Indians on 
reservations in the Lower 48 states, and mistakenly assume that the same legal principles applicable 
there do not apply in Alaska. This is due in large part to the perception that Alaska's history is somehow 
"different," and that the 1971 Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act ("ANCSA") altered the legal principles 
that apply to federally recognized Tribes in Alaska. 
 
But in fact and law, federally recognized Tribes in Alaska have the same legal status as other federally 
recognized Tribes singled out as political entities in the Commerce clause of the United States 
Constitution. 
 
Prior to enactment of ANCSA, Congress adopted statutes that imposed trust responsibilities on the 
Secretary over lands in Alaska for Alaska Natives, including statutory obligations over Alaska Native 
allotments, fiduciary responsibilities over restricted Native town sites, general trust authority over India 
Reorganization Act (IRA) tribal reserves, and specific responsibilities related to leases on executive order 
reserves. 
 
In 1934, as part of the Indian Reorganization Act of 1934, Congress in section 5 authorized the Secretary 
of the Interior to take real property into trust on behalf of Tribes and individual Indians; and in section 7 
empowered the Secretary to declare newly acquired lands Indian reservations or to add them to existing 
reservations. 
 
  

http://www.nari.org/
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In 1936, the IRA was amended to facilitate application to the Territory of Alaska. Section 1 of the 1936 
amendments extended sections 1, 5, 7, 8, 15, and 19 of the IRA to Alaska. Section 2 of the 1936 
amendments gave the Secretary authority to designate certain lands in Alaska as reservations but placed 
special conditions on Secretarial creation of any new reservations in Alaska.  A total of six reservations 
were created in Alaska pursuant to the Act. Among those was the 1.8 million acre reserve set aside for 
the Neet'sai Gwichin of Arctic Village and Venetie. 
 
In 1971, Congress enacted the Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act revoking all existing reservations in 
Alaska (except for the Metlakatla Reserve). Importantly, however, ANCSA did not repeal any portion of 
the IRA, nor any portion of the 1936 amendments. 
 
In 1976, Congress enacted the Federal Land Policy Management Act (FLPMA). Section 704(a) of FLPMA 
repealed section 2 of the 1936 amendments which had placed conditions on the Secretary's creation of 
new reservations in Alaska. Section 704(a) of FLPMA did not repeal any other part of the IRA or the 1936 
Amendment, nor otherwise amend or repeal the amended IRA's 
application to Alaska. 
 
In 1978, in response to a request by Arctic Village and Venetie to have their former reservation lands 
placed back into trust pursuant to section 5 of the IRA, then Associate Solicitor for Indian Affairs, 
Thomas Fredericks, issued an Opinion which stated the conclusion that ANCSA precluded the Secretary 
from taking land into trust for Native in Alaska. 
 
In 1980, the Department of the Interior ("DOl") for the first time promulgated a regulatory process to 
make fee-to-trust transactions more uniform. Those regulations expressly excluded acquisition of trust 
land by the Secretary for Tribes or tribal members situated in Alaska other than Metlakatla. The 
Department's preclusion of Alaska Tribes (other than Metlakatla) was based upon the 1978 Fredericks 
Opinion. 
 
In1994, the Chickaloon Indian Association, along with other Tribes, filed a petition for rulemaking with 
the Secretary of the Interior requesting that the Secretary revise 25 C.F .R. § 151 Part 1 (the Alaska 
prohibition) to include Lands in Alaska. The petitioning Tribes further urged the Secretary to revoked the 
Fredericks Opinion as erroneous and contrary to existing Jaw. 
 
In January of 1995, the agency published notice of the Tribes' petition and requested comment on the 
petition for rulemaking concerning Alaska Native land acquisitions. Four years later in April 1999, the 
Secretary proposed a revision to Part 151. The notice of proposed rulemaking specifically addressed 
discretionary land acquisitions in Alaska as follows: 
 
Both the current and proposed regulations bar the acquisition of trust title in land in Alaska, unless the 
application for such acquisition is presented by the Metlakatla Indian Community or one of its members. 
The regulatory bar to acquisition of title in trust in Alaska in the original version of these regulations was 
predicated on an opinion of the Associate Solicitor, Indian Affairs, which concluded that the Alaska 
Native Land Claims Settlement Act precluded the Secretary from taking land into 
trust for Natives in Alaska. 
 
Although that opinion has not been withdrawn or overruled, we recognize that there is a credible legal 
argument that ANCSA did not supersede the Secretary's authority to take land into trust in Alaska under 
the IRA. 
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The Notice of Proposed Rule-making specifically invited comment on the continuing vitality of the 
prohibition, the Frederick's opinion, and issues raised by the Tribe's petition. 
 
On January 2001, the Secretary published a final rule amending Part 151 Trust Lands Regulations and 
specifically addressing the comments submitted by the petitioning tribes, the agency stated: 
 

The Solicitor has considered the comments and legal arguments submitted by Alaska Native 
governments and groups on whether the 1978 Solicitor's Opinion accurately states the law. The 
Solicitor has concluded that there is substantial doubt about the validity of the conclusion 
reached in the 1978 Opinion ... Accordingly, the Solicitor has signed a brief memorandum 
rescinding the 1978 Opinion. 
 

Notwithstanding the rescission of the Fredericks Opinion, the final rule continued in place the Alaska 
prohibition against acquisition of trust lands in Alaska. However, the final rule explained the decision to 
continue the prohibition as a temporary measure stating that: 
 

The position of the Department has long been, as a matter of law and policy, that Alaska Native 
lands ought not to be taken in trust. Therefore, the Department has determined that the 
prohibition in the existing regulations on taking Alaska lands into trust (other than Metlakatla) 
ought to remain in pace for a period of three years during which time the Department will 
consider the legal and policy issues involved in determining whether the Department ought to 
remove the prohibition on taking Alaska lands into trust. 

 
On January 20, 2001, George Bush was sworn in as President. On the same day President Bush's 
administration ordered a delay in the effective date of these and other pending regulations in order for 
review by the President's own new appointments. On November 9, 2001, the Secretary of the Interior 
formally withdrew the final rule, leaving in place the regulatory prohibition against taking lands into 
trust status in Alaska (except for Metlakatla) notwithstanding the rescission of the Fredericks Opinion 
which formed the basis for that prohibition bar. The regulatory prohibition prohibits Alaska Tribes from 
petitioning the Secretary to take lands into trust, and prohibits the Secretary from acting favorable on 
any such petition. 
 
Litigation: 
 
Litigation was commenced in 2006, when four Tribes and one Native individual-the Akiachak Native 
Community, Chalkyitsik Village, Chilkoot Indian Association, Tuluksak Native Community (IRA), and Alice 
Kavairlook-brought suit to challenge the Secretary of the Interior's decision to leave in place Part 1 of 25 
C.F.R. § 151 (the Alaska prohibition) that as it pertains to federally recognized Tribes in Alaska. 
 
Plaintiffs argued that this exclusion of Alaska Natives-and only Alaska Natives-from the land into trust 
application process is void under the IRA section 476(g), which provides: 
 

Any regulation or administrative decision or determination of a department or agency of the 
United States that is in existence or effect on May 31, 1994, and that classifies, enhances, or 
diminishes the privileges and immunities available to a federally recognized Indian tribe relative 
to the privileges and immunities available to other federally recognized tribes by virtue of their 
status as Indian tribes shall have no force or effect. 
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25 U.S.C. § 476(g). The State of Alaska intervened to argue that the differential treatment is required by 
the Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act (ANCSA). The Secretary defended the regulation by reference to 
ANCSA and argued that while ANCSA did not revoke Secretarial authority to take lands into trust, it 
supported the policy and practice of the Secretary's discretion to exclude Alaska tribes from the land 
into trust regulatory process. 
 
Decision: 
 
The court disagreed. On March 31, 2013 Judge Rudolph Contreras issued a decision granting summary 
judgment to plaintiff Tribes. The Court rejected the State's argument that ANCSA's extinguishment of 
aboriginal claims and Congress's declaration of purpose implicitly extinguished the Secretary's authority 
to take lands into trust in Alaska, and held that the Secretary's Alaska land-into-trust authority was 
conferred in 1936 with the IRA's application to Alaska, which has not been explicitly revoked by ANCSA 
or any other legislative action. 
 
Having established that ANCSA did not revoke the Secretary's authority to take Alaska lands in trust, the 
Court next examined the legalityof25 C.F.R. § 151.1 (the Alaska bar) and found it to be inconsistent with 
the Congressional mandate that the Secretary not diminish the privileges available to tribes relative to 
the "privileges ... available to all other federally recognized tribes by virtue of their status as Indian 
tribes." 25 U.S.C. § 476(g). 
 
The Court then ordered briefing as to the scope of the remedy in this case and whether it is only the 
Alaska exception that is deprived of “force or effect," or whether some larger portion of the land-into-
trust regulation must fall. 
 
The State filed a motion for reconsideration in May 2013, as well as a motion to alter the judgment so it 
could take an interlocutory appeal, rather than having to wait for the completion of rule-making 
following a remand to the Secretary The Plaintiffs and the Secretary opposed the State's Motion for 
reconsideration. 
 
On the issue of remedies, Plaintiffs urged the Court to sever the Alaska exception from 25 C.F .R. 151 
and remand to the agency so that it could engage in curative rule-making to develop a process and 
criteria for 'Alaska lands. The federal government, however, joined the State of Alaska in requesting that 
the court NOT remand to the agency for curative rule-making but simply enter final judgment so the 
case can be immediately appealed to the D.C. Court of Appeals. 
 
In addition, the Secretary filed her own motion and argued that the case should be reconsidered to hold 
that it violated the Administrative Procedures Act only and not the IRA. In particular, the Secretary in her 
briefing argues that the Court's holding on IRA subsections 476 (f) and (g) is "sweeping in its broad, 
unlimited statements regarding the 1994 Amendment to the IRA and could potentially have unintended 
consequences across the federal government.  Accordingly, she asks the Court to avoid relying on those 
subsections of the IRA and to limit its decision to the holding that Interior's prior rationale relying on 
ANCSA in support of the Alaska exception was legally flawed. 
 
Briefing has been completed and we are awaiting a decision from the court. 
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That is the summary of the litigation and the Department of Interior's pattern and practice over the last 
thirty years when it comes to trust lands in Alaska. For a federal agency that has a moral obligation to 
uphold and abide by the highest fiduciary standards when it comes to its trust responsibility, the 
agency's track record in Alaska can fairly be described as abysmally entrenched in a bureaucratic 
attitude and preference to do nothing. 
 
This atrocious record leads me to the questions that were posed to each of us here today. 
 
Questions: 
 
1. The first, do we have any recommendations to improve or streamline delivery of services to trust 

beneficiaries? 
 

Yes. Stop treating Tribes in Alaska differently. As stated earlier, under the law federally recognized 
Tribes in Alaska have the same legal standing as Tribes elsewhere and are therefore entitled to the 
same immunities and privileges enjoyed by all federally recognized Tribes. 

 
2. What are the top three recommendations that you think would improve or strengthen trust 

management and/or administration for the Commission to consider? 
 

In response I would suggest the following. The briefing in the Akiachak case shows that the 
Department of the Interior is more concerned about avoiding the task of taking on difficult issues 
and instead falls back on its institutional bureaucratic lethargy. This avoidance, or let the courts 
figure it out, attitude is antithetical to the trust relationship. Thus, the Commission should 
recommend that the Department of the Interior engage in a curative rule-making that develops a 
process through notice and comment for taking lands into trust in Alaska. 
 
Second, this Commission should make clear that the federal government's trust responsibility 
extends to Tribes even when trust assets are not at issue. The trust responsibility should extend to 
government to government consultation on issues like climate change impacts. TI1e number of 
tribal communities in Alaska that are facing relocation due to erosion and climate change are 
staggering.  They need the help of the federal government in facing this challenge. 
 
Third, this Commission should recommend that the BIA and illS stop fighting Indian Tribes and 
Health Consortiums on issues of contract support costs, money that is vitally necessary to the 
delivery of Indian health care in Alaska but denied by the federal agencies that administer those 
funds. 

 
3. Do you have any suggestion of other trust administration models the lTC should examine as it 

looks towards improving the DOl trust administration and management? 
 
I would suggest that you confer and consult with the Honoring Nations Program of the Harvard 
Project on American Indian Economic Development. That program has a wealth of information and 
expertise that can be tapped for purposes of trust administration models for Indian country. 
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4. Do you have any recommendations specific to Alaska regarding the federal trust relationship with 

Alaska Native tribes, trust lands, or subsistence hunting and fishing rights? 
 
Obviously, tribes in Alaska like our sister tribes in the Lower 48 States need land in trust for a wide 
range of beneficial purposes. By acquiring land in trust, tribes are able to provide essential 
governmental services to their members, including health care, education, housing, jobs and other 
economic development opportunities, as well as court and law enforcement services. Trust land is 
also necessary for tribes to promote and protect historic, cultural, and religious ties to the land. 
Trust status further enhances the protections of the tribal land base by making the lands free from 
taxation and foreclosure. It is thus an important and necessary tool to promote tribal self-
determination.  As stated earlier, it is important for the federal agencies to stop treating Tribes in 
Alaska differently and undertake curative rule-making. 
 
With respect to subsistence hunting and fishing rights, the Commission should support the range of 
administrative and regulatory changes that have been put forth by AFN and other Native groups in 
recent years. 
 
And last and finally, I emphasize again that this Commission should make clear that the federal 
government's trust responsibility extends to Tribes even when trust assets are not at issue. I thank 
you for your time today.  
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Appendix E. Public Comments Submitted to Commission 
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Trust Land: We see this issue as a very important issue for all the federally recognized sovereign 
Tribal governments in Alaska, especially in terms of economic development projects.  We know that 
there has been a lot of conversation about putting land into trust. We have also heard that some have 
said, that Alaska Tribes do not want and/or need to have that ability. As a federally recognized 
sovereign Tribal government we would like to say, for the record, that we agree that any Tribal 
corporation that is legally considered a Tribe, in order to be eligible for some funding opportunities, 
should not be eligible to put land into trust. It is also our feeling that Alaska Tribes that have 
federally recognized sovereign Tribal governments should have the option to put land into trust, 
instead of a blanket restriction against all Alaska Tribes. We respect that other Alaska Tribes may not 
want this option at this time, but we do want this option. We also feel that it would be very beneficial 
to "real" federally recognized sovereign Tribal governments to have the ability to put land into trust. 
Right now, it is very hard for federally recognized sovereign Tribal governments in Alaska that do 
not have large funding streams of discretionary funding to start economic development projects on 
any of their lands, because the land will quickly get taxed right out from under them. Also, by not 
allowing Tribal corporations to put land into trust and allowing federally recognized sovereign Tribal 
governments to have the ability to put land into trust, maybe the Tribal corporations would be more 
compelled to work with the federally recognized sovereign Tribal governments, that they were 
supposedly formed to support. This would be our vision. The way that current legislation has been 
implemented, Tribal corporations are basically autonomous from their federally recognized sovereign 
Tribal governments and their federally recognized sovereign Tribal government's wants, wishes, and 
concerns are an afterthought, if thought of or considered at all.  
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